
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295 
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - CABINET 

Date & Time - MONDAY, 6TH JUNE, 2022 AT 9.30 AM 

Venue - ATTLEBOROUGH TOWN HALL, QUEEN'S 
SQUARE, ATTLEBOROUGH NR17 2AF 

 
 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

The Cabinet 
  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
 

Cllr Jane James 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
 
Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Tuesday, 24 May 2022  

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk


 
Cabinet 

06 June 2022 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 PUBLIC QUESTIONS  

 There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of the 
Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am. 
 

 

1. MINUTES  3 - 7 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 25 April 2022. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting. 
 

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   

 To consider the grants put forward (if any).   
 

 

8. QUARTER 4 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22  8 - 20 

 Report of Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance Revenues 
and Benefits. 
 

 

9. QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22  21 - 34 

 Report of Councillor Jane James, Executive Member for Customer & 
Corporate Services. 
 

 

10. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Monday 
25 July at 9.30am in the Anglia Room, The Conference Centre, Elizabeth 
House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE. 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

CABINET 
 

Held on Monday, 25 April 2022 at 9.30 am in 
The Breckland Conference Centre, Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 

 
PRESENT  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
 

Cllr Mark Robinson 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

Also Present  
Cllr Timothy Birt 
Cllr Bill Borrett 
 

Cllr Philip Morton 
 

In Attendance  
Sarah Barsby - Assistant Director People and Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer) 
Jason Cole - Executive Director 
Evie Hayman - High Streets Heritage Action Zone Project Manager 
Andrew Holdsworth - Assistant Director Economy and Growth 
Stephen James - Executive Director 
Rory Ringer - Democratic Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Simon Wood - Director of Planning & Building Control 
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy - Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer) 
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader 

 
 
 Action By 

 

  
36/22 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2022 were confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman.  
 

  
37/22 APOLOGIES   
  
 None.  
  
38/22 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
 
 

 

3

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 
25 April 2022 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
39/22 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 Nothing to declare.  
  
40/22 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 The Chairman welcomed all non-members present to the meeting.   
  
41/22 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 None.  
  
42/22 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 Councillor Alison Webb, Executive Member for Housing, Health and 

Communities provided an update for Members on the Platinum Jubilee 
grants.  There had been an amazing response and successful applicants 
would be notified by the end of the coming week.  
 
Match funding would be open for grants early May that would see the same 
structure as previously where grants of up to £5,000 were available. 
 
Councillor Birt said that Ovington Parish Council had put together a Jubilee 
committee but were unable to submit an application as the Parish Council 
were not permitted to apply. 
 
Councillor Webb responded to inform that whilst there were some 
requirements where groups were unable to apply, Officers had been able to 
support organisations with their applications. 
 
The Chairman added that the Communities team had been available to 
support the community groups in their applications. 
 
Councillor Borrett added that Parish Councils were not able to apply for the 
Platinum Jubilee funding as it was only available for voluntary groups.  He 
suggested that Ovington Parish Council applied for match funding.  
 
Councillor Bambridge said he had been aware of three groups within his ward 
who had also required support with their applications so approached the 
Communities team and in all cases were able to submit an application.   

 

  
43/22 HSHAZ SWAFFHAM CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISAL (CAA), 

CONSERVATION AREA MANAGEMENT PLAN (CAMP) AND 
MASTERPLAN FINAL DOCUMENTS  

 

  
 Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member for 

Economic Development and Growth introduced the report that sought 
approval of Members to approve and sign off and adopt the Swaffham 
Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan and to agree and sign 
off the Public Realm Masterplan.  
 
Evie Hayman shared a presentation with Members that provided background 
information on the process that had been taken and explained how the 
community had helped shaped the informed decision to be made.   
 

 

4



Cabinet 
25 April 2022 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
Stephanie Edwards, from Urban Symbiotics, was in attendance and shared a 
detailed presentation of the project with Members.    
 
Members heard that residents of Swaffham had been engaged through focus 
groups and surveys to understand the needs and wants of Swaffham and 
rediscover the heritage that Swaffham holds. 
 
Three separate handbooks had been produced that outlined the Masterplan 
strategies, Spaces and activities on how areas around Swaffham would be 
utilised to re-balance the public realm. 
 
Andrew Holdsworth, Assistant Director for Economy and Growth added that 
the project had provided a strong set of tools that would be used with 
partners to take Swaffham forward.   
 
Councillor Sherwood said that as a Swaffham Ward Member felt the 
engagement had been exceptional.  He was delighted that the Council and 
the project had recognised the strengths of the market town and that through 
working with partners would achieve results for the community. 
 
Councillor Cowen was delighted to see the documents had been driven by 
residents and hoped it would be the start of similar documents across the 
district.  The Market Towns would regenerate the economy of the district and 
was essential to make it happen. 
 
Councillor Birt was interested in the buildings and felt the documents had 
failed to recognise that it did not have to conform to the framework.  He had 
noted that the report had made no direct link with carbon footprint and asked 
how the definition of solar panels fitted with the statement of no effect to 
carbon made.  He would like to have seen a section relating to climate 
mitigations and what could be done. 
 
Simon Wood, the Director of Planning and Building Control explained that 
when dealing with historic assets there was a need to preserve or enhance 
the historic element.  There were a number of policies that would need to be 
considered when applying the balance including the Council priorities and the 
Local Plan. 
 
Councillor Hewett added that the collaborative document would allow 
residents and communities to thrive and would place Swaffham firmly on the 
map as a 21st century market town. 
 
Councillor Birt felt that a key issue would be the movement of traffic and 
dealing with parked vehicles and asked where the cars would go so it did not 
adversely affect the Town. 
 
Stephanie Edwards responded to say that there had been a strong emphasis 
on allowing movement in and around Swaffham.  The activity would include 
improved signage and routes to ensure that cars moved fluidly around the 
town. 
 
Councillor Borrett said the Covid outbreak had demonstrated that community 
was important to wellbeing.  It had been vital that residents had shaped and 
informed what the project would aim to deliver to make it a nice place to live. 
 

5



Cabinet 
25 April 2022 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
Councillor Robinson said it had been refreshing to hear the approach that 
had been undertaken and the engagement involved from the community of 
Swaffham 
 
Options 

1) To approve the recommendations 
2) To not approve the recommendations. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
The production and adoption of the Conservation Area Appraisal for 
Swaffham town centre would allow for the planning department at Breckland 
Council to review applications in accordance with up to date and relevant 
planning policy guidance.   
 
The production of the masterplan focused on small scale and large 
improvements that could be made in Swaffham town centre and in the public 
realm. The recommendation allowed for the document to be formally signed 
off and approved to use as a guide for future funding applications and to 
enable delivery of some elements to start progressing.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1) the final document of the Public Realm Masterplan be approved and 
signed off; 

2) the final Swaffham Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan for use in the determination of relevant planning applications 
following notification to the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and 
Sport as well as Historic England of the intention to vary the boundary 
of the Conservation Area be approved and formally adopted. 

 
  
44/22 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP   
  
 The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership meeting held 

on 1 March 2022 were noted. 
 

  
45/22 PARTNERSHIP WORKING THROUGH S113 AGREEMENT   
  
 Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue and 

Benefits presented the report that asked Members to consider the approval of 
a Section 113 Agreement with Norwich City Council for ARP to continue to 
provide fraud services. 
 
Options  

1) That Cabinet approves entering into a Section 113 agreement with 
Norwich City Council for ARP to provide fraud services to Norwich 
City Council. 

2) Do Nothing  
 
Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
Option 1 is recommended as it offers the following benefits: 
 

 Norwich city Council will provide funding in respect of ARP time to 
provide a fraud service. 

 This provides ARP future opportunity for the provision of shared 

 

6



Cabinet 
25 April 2022 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

 
services with other Councils. 

 
RESOLVED that entering into a Section 113 agreement with Norwich City 
Council for Anglia Revenues Partnership to provide fraud services to Norwich 
City Council be approved. 

  
46/22 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 6 June in the 

Attleborough Town Hall, Queen's Square, Attleborough NR17 2AF were noted.  
There will be an opportunity for public questions from 9.30am and the main 
meeting will commence at 10.00am. 

 

  
47/22 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
  
 This item was not required.  
  
48/22 PARTNERSHIP WORKING THROUGH A S113 AGREEMENT   
  
 This item was not required.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.22 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

7



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance Revenues and 

Benefits  
 
To: Cabinet, 7 June 2022 
 
Author: Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
 
Subject:  Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22 
 
Purpose: This report provides information on the actual full year financial position of 

the Council as at 31 March 2022 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the report and appendix be noted. 

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 
2) That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,932,375 be carried forward into 

2022-23 to support projects in progress. 
 

3) That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2022-23 capital programme as 
detailed in appendix B be approved. 

 
4) That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed in appendix C be approved. 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports have been completed forecasting the 

expected year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the 
actual full year financial performance for revenue, capital and treasury, with the detail 
being included in the attached appendix, alongside information on our major Balance 
Sheet risks.  The full statement of accounts will be presented to Governance and Audit 
Committee in July with final values. 

 
1.2 Revenue 

The full year out-turn based is a small above budget spend of £25k overall.  This is after 
removing the budgeted contribution to the General Fund of £153k as there is insufficient 
funds to make this contribution.  Full details of variances are shown in appendix A.   
 
Considering the considerable challenges still faced by Local Authorities over this financial 
year as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the significant increase in demand for 
temporary accommodation, this is an extremely positive financial position.  We have been 
able to mitigate resource and cost pressures through corporately prioritising available 
funding and resources to the most in need areas, continuing to support our priorities, our 
residents and our businesses. 
 
Progress against achieving our efficiencies has been strong, with £316k (54%) achieved 
to date and a further £118k achieved in 2022-23 (75% in total).  The remaining efficiency 
is no longer valid due to natural changes in the working environment and the budget 

8

Agenda Item 8



approved in February 2022 includes a new efficiency programme which will be reported 
on throughout the year, to ensure targets remain applicable and achievable. 
 

1.3  When the budget was set, we allocated £500k of the general Government Covid grant to 
services, leaving £231k to offset general additional costs across the Council.  These cost 
pressures were not known at the time as the impacts of the Covid pandemic cannot easily 
be forecast, but this funding and other Covid new burdens funding is being used to cover 
all Covid costs across the organisation. 

 
1.4  We are continuing to experience significantly high levels of demand within the Housing 

Service.  Calls into the service are remaining high compared to previous years, and the 
Housing Register now has approximately 1,300 people up from 1,000 for the same time 
last year.  We continue to use remining COMF to put additional Fixed Term roles into the 
service to add capacity.  We have successfully bid to the Rough Sleeper Initiative Fund for 
continuation of support staff and have commenced the build of Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation Programme for 5 additional units at Elm House as move on 
accommodation for Rough Sleepers.  We are using the direct let option within the Housing 
Allocations Policy for customers we owe the full Homelessness Duty to, ensuring we are 
able to transition them out of Temporary Accommodation as quickly as possible, those 
who turn down the offer of a suitable property will be given reasonable notice to leave 
Temporary Accommodation.  We are additionally working with other Council services to 
proactively identify additional Temporary Accommodation sites [like Elm House] in other 
part of the District as a priority. 

 
  This picture is one being seen nationally and is not just in the Breckland area.  The result 

of the higher number of customers needing to be placed into temporary accommodation is 
that we are unable to reclaim the costs in full through Housing Benefit, hence the 
additional costs shown in Appendix A in this area.  The response detailed in the 
paragraph above aims to bring the number of customers in temporary accommodation 
down and the Evolve programme includes a workstream on housing/temporary 
accommodation to help resolve these pressures in the future. 

 
1.5  Both the Council Tax and NNDR income has remained positive in 2021-22 despite the 

pandemic and we are therefore forecasting a surplus for Council Tax on the Collection 
Fund, which is recognised next financial year.  Whilst the NNDR is showing a deficit this is 
due to Government funded reliefs announced after budgets were set last year and is fully 
offset by Government grants.  Due to the accounting rules the deficit is shown next year 
with the grants held in reserve this year to fund the deficit next year. 

 
1.6  The General Fund is currently £2.8m which is near our minimum recommended balance 

of £2.5m but this small above budget spend at 31 March can be funded from the General 
Fund.   

 
1.7  Capital 
 
  The out-turn shows spend of £6,614k (77%) against the budget and appendix A details 

the main variances.  This report includes a recommendation to Full Council to carry 
forward £1,933k into future years, of which £952k relates to Better Care Fund grants 
which are committed and £637k relates to vehicles and equipment for our new waste 
contract. 

  
 
 
 
 

9



1.8  Treasury 
 
 The investment interest budget is below budget income of £110k as detailed in the 

appendix to this report.  This mainly relates to external loans to a 3rd party which are still 
expected to be made, but the timing is later than when budgeted.   

 
1.9  Balance Sheet Management 
 
 Appendix A includes a new section to highlight any potential risks to our financial 

sustainability, this section is included as a measure of good practice to ensure Members 
are fully informed and is line with the new CIPFA Financial Management Code.  The 
appendix includes full details and shows there are no actions required at the current time. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That the report and appendix be noted and 

Recommend to Full Council: 
That capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £1,932,375 be carried forward into 
2022-23 to support projects in progress. 
That the final capital out-turn and funding for 2021-22 as detailed in appendix B be 
approved 
That the revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2022-23 capital programme 
as detailed in appendix C be approved 

 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 

enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary and protecting the General 
fund balance. 

 
3.2 To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1  To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 

financial position. 
 

4.2   To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and to protect the General 
fund minimum balance. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
 Transformation Programme;  Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
 implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 
5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities. 
 

10



5.3  Financial  
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications. 
 
5.8 Risk Management  
5.3.1 Financial risks are included within the report. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those     

variances. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy 
7.2 COMF – Control Outbreak Management Funding 
7.3 DFG – Disabled Facilities Grant 
7.4 DMADF – Debt Management Account Deposit Facility 
7.5 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates 
7.6 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 
 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 07967 325037 
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Actual financial report for 2021-22 full year. 
Appendix B Revised 2022-23 Capital budgets and associated funding. 
Appendix C Capital funding sources 2021-22 
 
 
 
 

 

11

file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland Council 
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 
This report has four sections 

o Section 1 – Revenue budget 
o Section 2 – Capital budget 
o Section 3 – Treasury update 
o Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income. 
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income. 

Section 1 - Revenue 
 
Table 1 – Actual Revenue Outturn  

  Budget 
Actual  

Out-turn 
Actual 

Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of Services     

1) Place and Delivery (P&D) 6,018 5,401 (617) 

2) Strategy and Resources (S&R) 9,614 9,820 206 

3) Housing Benefits (HB) 434 987 553 

4) Covid-19 grant - (231) (231) 

5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 16,066 15,977 (89) 

6) Contributions to/from reserves (RES) (6,642) (6,663) (21) 

7) Total Cost of Services 9,424 9,314 (110) 

Funding & Appropriations    

8) Appropriations (APP) 7,203 7,229 26 

9) Government grants (GRA) (8,436) (8,465) (29) 

10) Council Tax (CT) (4,543) (4,542) 1 

11) Retained Business Rates (NDR) (3,537) (3,511) 26 

12) Total Funding (9,313) (9,289) 24 

13) Net Cost of Services 111 25 (86) 

14) Efficiencies to be achieved (264) - 264 

15) Remove General Fund contribution 153 - (153) 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 25 25 

 
Significant variances are detailed over the page. 
 
Salaries 
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2021-22 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues 
Partnership (ARP) staff. 
The achieved vacancy factor for this year is above target for both Breckland and for 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) staff.   

12



 

Table 2 - Significant Variances 
 
 
Cost Centre 

 
Port-
folio 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

1) Housing Benefit Claims HB 434,457 552,439 

Covid-19 impact: Increased demand in temporary accommodation through national initiatives 
such as ‘Everybody In’ combined with significantly increased costs of that accommodation 
and construction delays to the new facility in Thetford (which is now operational). 

2) Efficiencies All (264,533) 264,533 

This is the remaining efficiency planned to be achieved throughout the year, with £316k 
(54%) achieved to 31.03.22. £147k of the remainder will not be achieved due to some key 
savings which are no longer valid (shared role) and some which are delayed until next year 
(£75k travel allowances). The proposed budget rebases the efficiency requirement and sets a 
new plan from 1 April 2022 for new projects and efficiencies. 

3) BTS S&R (83,012) 111,750 
One off in year costs as a result of the decision already made regarding ceasing BTS, future 
years are cost neutral. 

4) Corporate Finance S&R (77,443) 81,322 

Loans made to Breckland Bridge have been delayed, however the schemes requiring loans 
are still part of the approved 5 year business plan so the forecasted loan income is still 
achievable albeit later than originally budgeted.  Partly offset by increased interest rates on 
general deposits 

5) ICT S&R 1,046,519 62,211 
Set up of micollab (telephony services), PSN penetration testing costs alongside increased 
postage costs as a result of home workers & external printing/postage costs. 

6) Land Charges P&D (61,390) 49,902 Shortfall in income due to reduced demand (despite increase during stamp duty holiday) 

7) Legal Services S&R 171,789 44,505 

Higher use of external resources for more complex and unpredictable cases compared to 
budget. A detailed piece of work on demand analysis, volume vs resources and choice of 
suppliers used for external works is in progress to resolve this spend for future years. 

8) Food Safety P&D 206,662 34,629 
Covid-19 impact: Third party inspection costs in order to reduce backlog of inspections as a 
result of Covid-19 previously hampering visits 

9) Appropriations APP 7,203,382 25,886 Prior year shortfall on Renewable Energy NNDR income. 

10) Retained NNDR NDR (3,537,436) 25,822 Additional levy payment on growth compared to budget. 

11) Marketing & 
Communications S&R 196,100 20,297 Additional version of Transforming Breckland 

12) Contributions from reserves RES (6,640,972) (22,213) Small value variance offset by variances within services 

13) Government grants & NHB GRA (8,435,846) (29,048) 

Additional grant for NNDR tax income compensation scheme offset by reduced New Home 
Bonus (NHB) as a result of Government policy change on the distribution of returned NHB 
compared to previous years. 

14) Roads & Footpaths P&D 89,630 (30,510) Primarily due to lower repairs as a result of the mild winter months. 

15) Footway lighting P&D 81,279 (34,528) 
Significantly reduced repairs costs as a result of wide replacement programme combined with 
energy savings through new LED bulbs 

16) Building Control P&D 25,375 (57,635) Increased fees income 

13



 

 
 
Cost Centre 

 
Port-
folio 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

17) Commercial Property & 
Business centres P&D (2,575,560) (66,586) Additional rental income as a result of increased lettings compared to budget 

18) Enabling S&R 169,809 (79,465) Salary savings due to vacancies, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

19) Salary savings  All 572,787 (90,214) 
Salary savings due to vacancies in Customer Corporate management and Community 
Development, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

20) Waste collection & 
Recycling P&D 2,251,308 (95,363) Additional income from bin purchases and bulky waste, combined with reduced contract costs 

21) Development Control P&D 29,258 (100,744) Increased applications has increased income. 

22) Revenues & Benefits S&R (611,548) (108,636) Additional Government grant to offset costs of administering grant schemes 

23) Garden Waste P&D (1,052,287) (124,722) Retained increased demand for service, which also increases costs of delivering the service 

24) Covid-19 grant funding  - (230,869) Remaining balance of the Government general Covid grant of £231k  

25) Other Miscellaneous All 10,556,098 (24,549) Combination of other small value variances 

26) Contrib’n to General Fund  - (152,787) The contribution to the General Fund will not be made 

TOTAL  - 25,427  

14



 

Table 3 – Progress Against Efficiency Targets 
 
The original efficiency target for the year was £581k and £316k has been achieved (54%) against 
these old targets in the current year.  A further £118k from this target have been achieved in 2022-23 
(75% in total) and the budgets have already been adjusted to reflect these.  The remaining £147k 
relate to targets which are no longer applicable. 
 

 
 
 
The budget approved in February 2022 rebases and resets with new projects and a new efficiency 
plan from April 2022 to ensure targets remain applicable and achievable.  These will be reported on 
through 2022-23 in the Cabinet reports. 
 
Collection Funds 
 
Council Tax 
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £713k overall at the end of 2021-
22, with Breckland’s share being £73k and this will be included in next years budget.  The forecast for 
2022-23 was a surplus of £20k and has been built into the proposed budget. 
 
Retained Business Rates 
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account had a residual deficit of £4,556k overall 
at the end of 2021-22, with Breckland’s share being £1,822k.  This balance was unusually high due 
to the Covid retail and hospitality reliefs and Covid Additional Relief Fund and the Government have 
provided grants to offset this cost to the Council.  The deficit shown in the budget for 2022-23 and the 
actual deficit are fully funded by the grants provided by Government in the current year. 
 

 
 
 
 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

Original Target Achieved to Date Achieved Next Year

2021-22 Progress Against Efficiencies

15



 

Section 2 - Capital 
 

Table 1 - Progress against 21-22 approved capital programme 

  

 
Budget   

£ 

Actual 
Out-turn 

£ 

Actual 
(under)/overspend 

£ 

Place and Delivery     

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,377,820 1,305,848 (71,972) 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 (637,223) 

   Capital grants 1,073,280 1,109,008 35,728 

   Not yet released - - - 

Total Place and Delivery 4,526,249 3,852,781 (673,467) 

Strategy and Resources    

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,372,538 1,246,063 (126,475) 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 176,246 116,497 (59,749) 

   Capital grants 2,266,466 1,314,792 (951,674) 

   Not yet released 123,438 - (123,438) 

Total Strategy and Resources 3,938,688 2,677,351 (1,261,337) 

   Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 

TOTAL 8,622,125 6,613,457 (2,008,668) 

 
Actual outturn  £6,613,457 or 77% 

 
Table 2 - The variance is shown below: 

 
 
Project 

(under)/ over 
spend 

£ 

Carry over 
to Future 

£ 

 

Place and Delivery 

Capital grants 119,089 119,089 Snetterton Power project, Shipdham Land 
Release project and S106 projects.  All of these 
are fully externally funded and the overspend is 
funded by bringing forward funding from future. 

Thetford Housing 
Infrastructure Fund 
project 

(83,682) - The remaining funding has been moved to 
revenue to fund the revenue costs of the project 
as agreed with Homes England. 

Waste vehicles and 
equipment 

(637,223) (637,223) Balance of budget to be carried forward for future 
spend on remaining vehicles and equipment 
throughout the life of the contract as required. 

Commercial Property 
Rolling Maintenance 

(53,212) (60,281) Below budget spend on current programme 
(partially offset by £7k overspend in other areas). 
Balance of budget to be carried forward for 
remaining planned works in Lodge Way 

Other miscellaneous (18,760) (18,760) Other small value variances on projects 

Strategy and Resources 

Better Care Fund – 
DFG’s and associated 
projects 

(951,674) (951,674) These works are fully funded by Government 
grant.  The £952k is fully allocated for projects 
which will take place during 2022-23 

Elm House (126,475) (126,475) Balance of budget to be carried forward for 
remaining works in progress and retention 
payments once due 

ICT projects and refresh (136,188) (136,188) Balance of budget to be carried forward for PC 
refresh for Officers and Members, cloud security 
products and infrastructure works 

Noise meters (18,000) (18,000) Procurement of the equipment has taken longer 
than anticipated, therefore budget to be carried 
forward for final installation in 2022-23 

Air Quality equipment (29,000) (29,000) 

Capital Loans 

Breckland Bridge loans (73,864) (73,864) Loans will be drawn down in future years, this 
timing delay on draw down has impacted the 
revenue budget leading to less interest received 

Total (£2,008,668) (£1,932,375)  

16



 

Section 3 – Treasury 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.004% 0.056% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £7.64m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  
This was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to profiling of large cash outflows 
expected at short time frames.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  
The weighted average life (WAL) of investments was 25 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Actual Variance 

Interest receivable 2021-22 £235,666 £127,190 £108,476 

Yield (Overnight SONIA1) 0.14058% 0.2884% (0.148%) 

 
The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

   
 
  

                                                 
1 SONIA – Sterling Overnight Index Average 

24,472,000 , 
58%

0 , 0%

270,000 , 1%

15,000,000 , 
36%

0 , 0%

2,000,000 , 5%

Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Banks - Non UK

Loans to 3rd Parties

building societies

Local authorities

DMADF

Currently 
49% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

17



 

Section 4 – Balance Sheet Management 
 
This section focuses on the areas of our Balance Sheet which could pose risks to our financial 
sustainability.  The main areas of risk are determined as: 
 

Balance Sheet 
Area 

Measure Mitigations 

Non-Current 
Assets 

It is important that these are 
maintained in a suitable condition to 
deliver services and rental income. 

Annual capital programme to 
ensure maintenance & 
replacement activity is captured 
and planned. 

Cash & 
Investments 

A shortfall in cash would represent an 
imminent problem to paying 
expenditure. 

Daily cashflow monitoring in 
place.  Investments placed so 
they mature at different times to 
ensure a constant cash inflow. 
Treasury Management Policy in 
place and Prudential Indicators 
monitored. 

Provisions Unexpected events may give rise to 
unexpected costs, which in turn could 
reduce usable reserves. 

Regular dialogue to highlight 
potential new provisions (i.e. 
legal cases, NNDR Appeals). 

Borrowing It is important that the medium-term 
financial plan includes provision for 
repayment of debt and interest. 

Currently internal borrowing is 
being utilised and no debt 
payments are required. 

Usable reserves Some reserves are held to protect 
against one off major events (i.e. loss 
of business rates through a major 
business leaving the area/ceasing 
trading). 
Other reserves provide funding for 
corporate priorities and development, 
without these balances future 
development is difficult to achieve. 

Regularly monitored and usage 
reported in Proforma B 
alongside remaining reserve 
balance. 
Report in financial performance 
report on large unplanned use of 
reserves. 

General Fund This is currently set at a minimum 
balance of £2.5m and should only be 
utilised in emergency situations. 

Regularly monitored and any 
use would be reported through 
the financial performance report. 

 
Currently the main risk area for Breckland is usable reserves and capital reserve, as due to 
budgetary pressures there are no plans currently to replenish any reserves or capital funding, which 
could lead to less funding in future to deliver new priorities and developments. 
 
Actions 

 None 
 

18



APPENDIX B

PROJECT

2021/22 Final 

budget
2021/22 Spend

2021/22 (under)/ 

over spend

Unspent amount 

requested to be 

carried over

Original Budget 

2022/23

Proposed new 

budget 2022/23 

(gross)

Breckland 

Funded
MRP LEP BRP

Specific 

Grant
S106 Revenue

Place and Delivery
Snetterton Power Upgrade (LEP Funded) 326,771 709,999 383,228 (383,228) 2,404,013 2,020,785 1,304,988 715,797

Housing Infrastructure Fund - Thetford 395,554 312,192 (83,362) 0 0 0

Shipdham Land Release 257,787 14,995 (242,792) 242,792 0 242,792 242,792

Public lighting 133,899 125,889 (8,010) 8,010 0 8,010 8,010

Bridge Works Swaffham 16,000 5,252 (10,749) 10,749 85,000 95,749 95,749

Riverside finishing items 55,684 55,684 (0) 0 0 0

Car Parks Resurfacing 11,152 11,152 0 0 120,797 120,797 120,797

Elizabeth House Worksmart 639,805 639,804 (1) 0 0 0

Elizabeth House Renewal 21 145,088 145,088 0 0 11,072 11,072 11,072

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 20/21 151,194 158,263 7,069 0 0 0

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 21/22 72,500 12,219 (60,281) 60,281 0 60,281 60,281

Waste Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 (637,223) 637,223 0 637,223 12,223 625,000

Watton Teen Area 3PL/2014/0330/F 14,490 14,490 0 0 0 0

East Harling Picnic Area 3PL/2014/0402/F 1,680 1,680 0 0 0 0

Affordable Housing Benjamin Foundation 55,651 55,651 0 0 0 0

Attleborough Decoy Common Access 3PL/2010/0033/F 21,347 0 (21,347) 21,347 0 21,347 21,347

PFI 152,498 152,498 0 0 0 0

Green Britain Centre new access 0 0 0 0 50,000 50,000 50,000

Swaffham new build 0 0 0 0 975,785 975,785 975,785

Asset purchase Thetford 0 0 0 0 430,000 430,000 430,000

Re-investment of sale income 0 0 0 0 999,715 999,715 999,715

Leisure Strategy (Inc Growth internal borrowing) 0 0 0 0 1,300,000 1,300,000 1,300,000

Future Leisure Provision Swaffham 0 0 0 0 700,000 700,000 700,000

Sustainability Projects 0 0 0 0 200,000 200,000 200,000

Planning and building control system 0 0 0 0 75,000 75,000 75,000

4,526,249 3,852,781 (673,467) 597,173 7,351,382 7,948,555 4,838,632 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 242,792 21,347 200,000

Strategy and Resources
Officer/Member refresh 165,250 89,250 (76,000) 76,000 225,250 301,250 197,688 103,562

Agile working/technology change events (G&I) 27,246 27,246 0 0 0 0

BCF - Disability Adaptations                (RESTORE) 26,008 1,715 (24,293) 24,293 50,000 74,293 74,293

BCF - Mandatory Adaptation Assistance (DFG's/Re-Able) 1,776,632 963,130 (813,501) 813,501 993,751 1,807,252 1,807,252

BCF - Discretionary Repairs Assistance (Enhance/Safety & 

Security Grant)

50,000 987 (49,013) 49,013 50,000 99,013 99,013

BCF - Discretionary Adaptation Assistance 

(Relocation/Additional Adaptation Assistance)

100,000 42,877 (57,123) 57,123 100,000 157,123 157,123

BCF  - Staffing to support the schemes 201,512 201,512 0 0 127,893 127,893 127,893

BCF - Dementia funding 8,000 256 (7,744) 7,744 8,000 15,744 15,744

Enhancement grants 104,314 104,314 (0) 0 0 0

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (pre 

construction)

21,006 12,840 (8,166) 0 0 0

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution 

(Construction)

858,826 740,517 (118,309) 126,475 0 126,475 126,475

Temporary Accommodation - (S106) 492,706 492,706 0 0 0 0

noise metres 18,000 0 (18,000) 18,000 0 18,000 18,000

air quality equipment 29,000 0 (29,000) 29,000 0 29,000 29,000

ICT Strategy Projects 35,188 0 (35,188) 35,188 0 35,188 35,188

Infrastructure 25,000 0 (25,000) 25,000 0 25,000 25,000

Replacement UPS unit plant room 0 0 0 0 30,000 30,000 30,000

Empty Homes 0 0 0 250,000 250,000 250,000

3,938,688 2,677,351 (1,261,337) 1,261,337 1,834,894 3,096,231 676,163 0 0 0 2,281,318 0 138,750

Grand Total Capital Programme 8,464,937 6,530,133 (1,934,804) 1,858,510 9,186,276 11,044,786 5,514,795 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 2,524,110 21,347 338,750

Capital Loans
LABV loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 73,864 0 73,864 73,864

Total Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 (73,864) 73,864 0 73,864 73,864 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 8,622,125 6,613,457 (2,008,668) 1,932,375 9,186,276 11,118,651 5,588,659 625,000 1,304,988 715,797 2,524,110 21,347 338,750

19



APPENDIX C

PROJECT

2021/22 Final 

budget
2021/22 Spend

Capital 

Reserve

Useable 

Capital 

receipts

Revenue 

Reserves
PFI Scheme

External grant 

funding

Roof & 

Asphalt 

reserve

S106/ 

Commuted 

sums

Place and Delivery
Snetterton Power Upgrade (LEP Funded) 326,771 709,999 709,999

Housing Infrastructure Fund - Thetford 395,554 312,192 312,192

Shipdham Land Release 257,787 14,995 14,995

Public lighting 133,899 125,889 125,889

Bridge Works Swaffham 16,000 5,252 5,252

Riverside finishing items 55,684 55,684 55,684

Car Parks Resurfacing 11,152 11,152 11,152

Elizabeth House Worksmart 639,805 639,804 639,804

Elizabeth House Renewal 21 145,088 145,088 145,088

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 20/21 151,194 158,263 127,148 31,115

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance 21/22 72,500 12,219 12,219

Waste Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 1,437,926 755,573 682,354

Watton Teen Area 3PL/2014/0330/F 14,490 14,490 14,490

East Harling Picnic Area 3PL/2014/0402/F 1,680 1,680 1,680

Affordable Housing Benjamin Foundation 55,651 55,651 55,651

Attleborough Decoy Common Access 3PL/2010/0033/F 21,347 0

PFI 152,498 152,498 152,498

4,526,249 3,852,781 755,573 1,164,784 639,804 152,498 1,037,187 31,115 71,821

Strategy and Resources
Officer/Member refresh 165,250 89,250 89,250

Agile working/technology change events (G&I) 27,246 27,246 27,246

BCF - Disability Adaptations                (RESTORE) 26,008 1,715 1,715

BCF - Mandatory Adaptation Assistance (DFG's/Re-Able) 1,776,632 963,130 963,130

BCF - Discretionary Repairs Assistance (Enhance/Safety & Security 

Grant)

50,000 987 987

BCF - Discretionary Adaptation Assistance (Relocation/Additional 

Adaptation Assistance)

100,000 42,877 42,877

BCF  - Staffing to support the schemes 201,512 201,512 201,512

BCF - Dementia funding 8,000 256 256

Enhancement grants 104,314 104,314 104,314

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (pre construction) 21,006 12,840 12,840

Temporary Accommodation - Breckland Contribution (Construction) 858,826 740,517 352,487 388,030

Temporary Accommodation - (funded) 492,706 492,706 0 492,706

noise metres 18,000 0

air quality equipment 29,000 0

ICT Strategy Projects 35,188 0

Infrastructure 25,000 0

3,938,688 2,677,351 365,327 0 504,527 0 1,314,792 0 492,706

Grand Total Capital Programme 8,464,937 6,530,133 1,120,900 1,164,784 1,144,330 152,498 2,351,979 31,115 564,527

Capital Loans
LABV loans 157,188 83,324 83,324

Total Capital Loans 157,188 83,324 83,324 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total 8,622,125 6,613,457 1,204,224 1,164,784 1,144,330 152,498 2,351,979 31,115 564,527

20



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Jane James, Executive Member for Customer & Corporate 

Services 
 
To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission- 26th May 2022 
 Cabinet: 6 June 2022 
  
Author: Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner 
 
Subject:  Performance Overview Report- Quarter 4 2021/22  
 
Purpose: To provide members with an overview of the Council’s performance for the 

period 1st January 2022 – 31st March 2022. 
 

 
Recommendation: 
 
1) Members are asked to note the report. 

 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  The Quarter 4 2021/22 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide 

Members, businesses, and residents with an overview of how the Council is performing 
against several key strategic indicators. These indicators include the delivery of frontline 
services, financial performance and progress made towards achieving the overarching 
aims and objectives of the Council as set out in the Corporate Plan.  
 
In addition, the covering report will highlight areas of improved and high performance and 
where performance is challenging.  
 

1.2  Since this report was last viewed by the commission, a review of indicator targets has 
been carried out to ensure that they are reflective and achievable. Where this has 
happened, a note has been added to the relevant comment section.  
 

1.3  Several additional indicators appear in this report as a result of year-end reporting. These 
indicators can be found at the end of the Thriving Places section of the report. 
 

1.4  Additionally, the number of vexatious customer registrations appears at the end of the 
Working Smarter section of the report. This was previously reported to the commission in 
July 2021 and has been added to the report to bring its reporting cycles in line. Moving 
forward, this indicator should be reported to the commission in the Q4 performance report 
annually. 
 

1.5  As a result of the ceasing of national and local covid reporting, the Council has not 
submitted an additional appendix this quarter in relation to COVID specific performance 
measures. 

 
2.0 Areas of success 
 
2.1 During Q4, the Council saw a strong return in performance in relation to successful bin 

collections which increased by 2%. It also saw continued strong performance in relation to 
the average yield in relation to its commercial properties.  
 

21

Agenda Item 9



2.2 The Council also saw a fall in relation to staff sickness, which is notable due to the 
increased levels previously seen in this indicator in previous quarters.  
 

2.3 Areas of traditionally strong performance such as Freedom of Information requests, IT 
system availability, reports sent within deadlines, Subject Access requests and complaint 
responses also continued to perform well in Q4. 
 

2.4 Strong performance can also be seen when looking at Q1 to Q4 performance across 
several indicators. Notable indicators include major and minor planning applications 
determined; Freedom of Information requests/ complaints responded to/ Subject Access 
Requests  

 
3.0 Areas requiring improvement 
 
3.1 Performance around customer contact calls continues to be challenging for the Council. 

After a gradual improvement in previous quarters, performance fell during Q4. This is 
across both underlying indicators including days where 90% of calls were not answered 
and wait times exceeded their target. Q4 is a traditionally busy time for customer calls and 
this was exacerbated due to staffing issues and key project delivery dates colliding with 
busy periods. A detailed note has been added to the comment section of the report and as 
previously discussed, improvement in relation to customer calls will continue to be gradual 
due to the nature of recruitment and training within the service. 

 
3.2 It should be noted that whilst customer calls continue to be challenging, performance in 

other areas of customer services continue to function at expected levels such as live chats 
and chatbot interactions.    

 
4.0 OPTIONS 
 
4.1 To note the content of the report 
 
4.2        Do nothing 
 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
5.1  The Organisational Development and Performance Team will use the content of this 

report to identify areas of improvement. 
 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1    Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
6.1.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the 

author that there are no implications. 
 
6.2     Constitution & Legal 
6.2.1  Constitutional and Legal issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the author that   

there are no implications. 
  
6.3 Contracts 
6.3.1 Contracts issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the report author that   there 

are no implications. 
 
6.4  Corporate Priorities 
6.4.1 The report presents progress monitoring of key performance indicators from the corporate 

priorities which highlight the areas of focus in the new BAU Covid era. 

22



 
6.5  Financial  
6.5.1  The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to financial matters. 
 
6.6 Health & Wellbeing 
6.6.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to health and wellbeing. 
 
6.7  Reputation  
6.7.1 Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose of this 

report to highlight performance issues at an early stage. 

 

6.8 Risk Management  
6.8.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect      

Council interests. 

 
6.9  Staffing 
6.9.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 

information relating to staffing. 
 
 
7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
7.1 No Wards or Communities are affected. 
 
8.0 ACRONYMS  
 
8.1 KPI- Key performance indicator 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Ryan Pack- Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Telephone Number: 07766 510582 
Email: Ryan.Pack@Breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  

 
Appendix A Quarter 4 21/22 performance report 
Appendix B Water usage indicator breakdown  
 

23



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

Inspiring Communities- Key performance indicators- 21/22 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q4 
20/21 

Q3 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Change 
against Q4 
20/21 

Change 
against Q3 
21/22 

Target Comments 

Leisure centre 
participation 

Bigger 0 140,568 170,082 +170,082 +29,514 Annual 
target 

The council defines its participation metric as any 
individual visit to any of its sites. During Q4, 
attendances were up across all council leisure sites 
within the district compared to the previous quarter. 
Between Q1 21/22, and Q4 21/22 there were 538,959 
visits to the council’s leisure sites. Due to lockdown 
restrictions and the impact of the pandemic, this is a 
significant rise on 20/21 where participation was 
recorded at 70,249. The target for this indicator is that 
a year on year increase is shown rather than setting a 
specific monthly or quarterly target. 
 
Customer satisfaction, which has previously been 
recorded as a performance measure, is not currently 
being recorded by the council across any sites. This is 
an agreed part of the leisure recovery strategy. A 
quarterly survey is however completed for Sport 
England’s Moving Communities strategy. When 
satisfaction reporting recommences, it will be 
included within the commentary for this indicator.  
 
Please note that during Q4 20/21 leisure centres were 
unable to open due to lockdown restrictions. As a 
result, a participation level of 0 has been recorded. 

# of Cases Prevented from 
Homelessness 

N/A 48 21 52 +4 +31 N/A The service continues to work hard due to the high 
number of applicants contacting the council for 
Housing advice.  

24



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

% of Category 1 Hazard 
repairs complied with 

Bigger - - - - - - In Q4, the council were unable to report on hazard 
repairs or DFG applications completed within 
timescales. This is due to pre-planned changes to the 
process of recording these to ensure data quality and 
that the reporting process is as efficient as possible 
within the Housing team’s system. The council 
currently expects that it will be able to report these 
from Q1 22/23 onwards. 

% of approved DFG 
applications completed 
within 140 days 

Bigger - - - - - - 

 

Thriving Places- Key performance indicators- 21/22 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q4 
20/21 

Q3 
21/22 

Q4 
21/22 

Change 
against 
Q4 20/21 

Change 
against Q3 
21/22 

Target Comments 

% of Major applications 
determined within 13 
weeks or agreed 
extension 

Bigger 64.44% 100% 95.83% +31.39% -4.17% 70% Major planning applications determined within 
timescales saw continued strong performance 
during Q4, with two months where 100% of 
applications were determined on time. The annual 
rate for this indicator in 21/22 was 87.53% against 
a target of 70%. 
  

% of Minor applications 
determined within 8 
weeks or agreed 
extension 

Bigger 93.57% 95% 92%  +1.57% -3% 80% Whilst minor application determination within 
timescales fell during Q4, this was as a result of 
one month where the service fell just below target 
(March where the rate was 79% against a target of 
80%). The annual rate for this indicator was 
92.09% against a target of 80%. 

Trade waste customer 
conversion rate 

Bigger - 37.2% 29.5% - -7.6% N/A This relates to the number of quotes the council 
produces against the number of 
companies/individuals who then sign up for the 
council’s trade waste service.  

25



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

 
Due to this service being in its first year of 
operation, a target has not been set to allow the 
council to baseline targets for future years. 

% of successful bin 
collections 

Bigger - 95.89% 98.77% - +2.88% 98% During Q4, the number of bins successfully 
collected rose by 2.88% to 98.77% against a target 
of 95%. Whilst this is above target, sickness within 
Serco did mean that some bins were missed as a 
result of rounds being staffed with one driver and 
one loader. The majority of those bins that were 
missed were collected the following day. 
 
The target for this indicator has also been changed 
from 95% to 98% as part of a recent review of 
performance targets. 

Fly-tipping investigations 
with a successful 
outcome 

Bigger - 15 18 - +3 N/A In Q4, the council successfully investigated 18 
instances of fly-tipping out of the 30 which met the 
threshold for further investigation. The overall 
number of reported fly-tips in the district rose 
slightly in Q4 compared to Q3 but were still down 
compared to Q4 20/21. This remains within normal 
levels for the district. The overall tonnage for Q4 
was down compared to both Q3 21/22 and Q4 
20/21. 

Food Businesses Rated 
'Generally Satisfactory' 
or above 

Bigger 99.11% 98.29% 99.06% -0.05% +0.77% N/A Q4 saw a small rise in the number of businesses 
that rated generally satisfactory or above. Within 
the district, 1,165 businesses meet these criteria 
out of 1,176.  
 

26



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

Those businesses that are rated 1 or 2 stars are 
presented with an action plan for improvement as 
a result of their inspection. 

% of planned work 
completed according to 
agreed timescales 

Bigger - 93.5% 100% - +6.5% N/A Breckland Council completed all of its agreed H& S 
interventions as part of the HSE intervention 
program (which included COVID Spot checks). 

 

Thriving Places- Key performance indicators- Annual indicators (21/22) 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Change 
against 
19/20 

Change 
against 
20/21 

Target Comments 

Commercial Property 
Average Yield 

Bigger 7.1% 6.1% 6.7% -0.4% +0.6% 6% The average commercial property yield rose from 
6.1% in 20/21 to 6.7% in 21/22.  

Jobs supported Bigger - - 1,082 - - N/A 64% of this figure can be attributed to the speedy 
distribution of Covid related grants (OHLG & ALG) 
from Central Government to local businesses 
 
10% (107) of jobs were supported as a result of the 
aforementioned support the Team provided to 
business growth, relocations and acquisitions. 

Investment supported Bigger - - £34.36m - - N/A 55% was through the Affordable Housing 
completions that have been supported 
 
36% was on account of the work that the team 
have done to support business growth, relocations 
and acquisitions 

 

 

27



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 
 

 

Breckland 2035- Key performance indicators- 21/22 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q4 20/21 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Change 
against 
Q4 20/21 

Change 
against 
Q3 21/22 

Target Comments 

Gas usage (kWh) Smaller 412,369 
 

186,180 381,105 -31,264 +194,925 N/A These indicators relate to the usage on 
Breckland sites including Elizabeth House and 
Breckland House. This does not include any 
usage for leisure centres due to usage falling to 
a 3rd party. 

Electricity usage 
(kWh) 

Smaller 312,584 303,441 291,835 -20749 -11,606 N/A 

Water usage 
(Cubic m3) 

Smaller - - - - - N/A Please see attached appendix  

No of enforcement 
actions taken  

N/A - 16 15 - -1 N/A Enforcement action includes but is not limited to 
FPN  (Fixed Penalty Notices) and warning letters. 

Trees planted Bigger - - 700 - - - Due to the nature of this indicator, reporting on 
trees planted will only be reported seasonally to 
match periods where tree planting is possible. A 
further update will be provided later this year. 

 

 

 

 

 

28



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 
 

 

Working Smarter- Key performance indicators- 21/22 

 Bigger is 
better/Smaller 
is better 

Q4 20/21 Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Change 
against 
Q4 20/21 

Change 
against 
Q3 21/22 

Target Comments 

% of reports sent 
within deadlines 

Smaller - 100% 100% - 0% 100% During Q4, all of the 55 reports due in the quarter 
were received and sent within their deadlines. 

Days lost to 
sickness per FTE 

Smaller 2.52 2.72 1.85 0.67 -0.87 2.01 The overall rate of sickness for 21/22 slightly 
exceeded its target (8.17 against a target of 8.04). 
However, it remains within the parameters of 
what the council defines as performing. Notably, 
sickness was down compared to 20/21 where the 
rate was 9.85. This figure does not include staff 
sickness for Anglia Revenue Partnerships. 

IT systems 
availability (%) 

Bigger - 100% 100% - 0% 100% This indicator relates to both scheduled and 
unscheduled downtime of our IT systems and 
website.  

# of days CC 
performance 
drops below 90 % 

Smaller - 44 days/ 
64 days 

50 days/ 
63 days 

- +6 days N/A This indicator is based on the number of working 
days where the council is unable to answer at 
least 90% of the calls received into its customer 
contact centre.  
 
During Q4, the council saw challenging 
performance around its customer contact centre. 
Whilst the overall KPI still requires a target after a 
period of baselining, average wait times rose from 
294 seconds to 350 seconds against a target of 
150. The % of calls abandoned also rose slightly 

29



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

from 17.47% to 18.4% against a target of 10.1%. It 
should be noted that those abandoned calls 
included a % who will have received the necessary 
information through the IVR (Interactive voice 
response) and therefore did not need to speak to 
a member of the team. 
 
Staffing was a significant factor in the downturn in 
performance this quarter with 4.3 FTE vacancies 
within the contact centre throughout March 
alone. Recruitment has taken time as a result of 
the service review and continues to be an ongoing 
process since last year. Due to the size of the 
customer management, recruitment can only be 
done in a small number at a time. During Q4, this 
was further reduced due to a strategic decision 
that focus on key project delivery in the form of 
changing over customer management systems 
and ensuring that staff were not having to deliver 
training at the same time as the annual billing 
period (traditionally the busiest time for the 
service).   

% of automated 
customer web 
chats 

Bigger - 81% 85% N/A +4% N/A This indicator is based on the number of webchats 
where the council’s chatbot is used against the 
overall number of webchats carried out across the 
quarter. This was 4,578 interactions in Q4. 

% of Freedom of 
information  
requests (FOI) 
responded to 

Bigger 94% 100% 99% +5% -1% 100% During Q4, the council received 91 requests under 
the freedom of information act. This indicator has 
therefore been marked as amber as only 90 were 
responded to within their time limit. The average 
number of days to complete an FOI was 6 days. 

30



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

within the time 
limit 

 
The annual rate for this indicator was 98% for 
21/22. This is up 6% on 20/21 and represents our 
best year since this indicator was first recorded in 
15/16. Of the 368 requests received, 360 were 
responded to within the set timescale. 

% of SAR requests 
responded to 
within the time 
limit 

Bigger 100% 100% 100% 0% 0% 100% The number of subject access requests received 
by the council remains a low number compared to 
complaints and freedom of information requests. 
In Q4, the council received 0 Subject Access 
Requests 
 
The annual rate for this indicator in 21/22 was 
100% 

% of Complaint 
requests 
responded to 
within the time 
limit 

Bigger 93% 98% 92% -1% -6% 100% The council received 41 complaints during this 
period. The average number of days to complete 
a complaint was 5 days for Q4. The uphold rate 
for Q4 was 22% - this relates to complaints where 
the council admits either full or partial fault. Of 
the complaints received, 3 were escalated from 
stage 1 to stage 2 due to the complainant not 
being satisfied with the council’s conclusion to 
their complaints.  
 
The annual rate for this indicator was 21/22 was 
94.68%. Of the 263 complaints received in 21/22, 
249 were responded to within timescale.   

Number of 
vexatious 
customer 
registrations  

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 N/A This indicator has been reported in the Q4 report 
due to policy requirements. It was previously 
reported to the Overview and Scrutiny 

31



Appendix A 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report 
Q4 21-22 

 

commission in July 2021 at their request. Moving 
forward it will be reported in Q4 each year. 

 

32



Appendix B 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report  
Q4 21-22 

Breckland Business Centre, Dereham Water Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period Volume used (Cubic m3) Volume used (Cubic m3) 

July to October 2021 230 207.00 

October 2021 to January 2022 113 101.70 

January to April 2022 523 470.00 

  866 778.70 

   

Breckland Business Centre, Thetford Water Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period Volume used (Cubic m3) Volume used (Cubic m3) 

21 May to 9 August 2021 78 70.20 

10 August to 9 November 2021 99 89.10 

10 November 2021 to 9 February 2022 122 109.80 

  299 269.10 

   

Ecotech Business Units, Swaffham Water Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period Volume used (Cubic m3) Volume used (Cubic m3) 

May to August 2021 59 53.1 

August to November 2021 78 70.2 

November 2021 to February 2022 64 57.6 

  201 180.9 

 
   

Riverside, Thetford Water Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period Volume used (Cubic m3) Volume used (Cubic m3) 

June to September 2021 2 1.80 

September to December 2021 0 0.00 

December 2021 to March 2022 4 3.60 

  6 5.40 

   
   

Elizabeth House, Dereham Water Supply Sewerage Supply 

  Usage 

Period Volume used (Cubic m3) Volume used (Cubic m3) 

April to July 2021 -63 (56.70) 

July to October 2021 77 69.30 

October 2021 to January 2022 68 61.20 

January to April 2022 9.57 8.63 

33



Appendix B 
 

BDC Performance and Business Intelligence Report  
Q4 21-22 

  91.57 195.83 

 

34


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 2 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 3 for Quarter 4 Financial Performance Report 2021-22

	9 Quarter 4 Performance Report 2021-22
	Appendix 1 for Q4 performance report
	Appendix 2 for Q4 performance report


